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NEWS RELEASE (October 9, 2018)

Solicitor David Pascoe’s Statement Concerning
the Release of the State Grand Jury Report

On October 3, 2018, the Honorable Clifton Newman granted the State’s Motion for
Disclosure of the Report issued by the Twenty-Eighth State Grand Jury. The Court signed a
subsequent Order which permits unsealing the Report with redactions. The State’s consent to
those redactions is explained below.

The Report was drafted by the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office at the request of the State
Grand Jury, as authorized by the State Grand Jury Act. In directing the designated prosecutor to
draft a report, the Grand Jury acted upon the belief that citizens of a democratic society must be
informed about the conduct of those entrusted with governance, and that transparency is the
greatest weapon against corrupt and incompetent government. Concurrent with the release of the
Report, the State is releasing Corporate Integrity Agreements reached between the State and
lobbyist’s principals who retained the services of Richard Quinn & Associates.

The Report details the Grand Jury’s findings that the lobbyist’s principals who retained

Richard Quinn & Associates (RQ&A) are culpable for their role in the pay-for-influence



schemes described in the Report. As a result of these findings, the corporate entity of RQ&A
pleaded guilty and the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office reached corporate integrity agreements
with the following lobbyist’s principals who retained RQ&A: AT&T, Palmetto Health, SCANA
Corp., South Carolina Association for Justice, and University of South Carolina. The agreements
carry substantial terms, resulting in mandatory compliance procedures and fines far greater than
the penalties imposed by the Ethics Act. While these entities dispute the allegations, they do
acknowledge that improprieties occurred. The State appreciates the willingness of the corporate
entities to enter agreements and save taxpayers a significant amount of money by foregoing the
cost of prosecution. The Grand Jury’s actions in regard to RQ&A and its corporate clients stand
as a message that corporations are not immune from prosecution for violations of this State’s
ethics laws.

In addition to its findings and conclusions, the Grand Jury addresses significant questions
surrounding the initiation of this investigation and the relationship between the Attorney
General’s Office and the targets of this investigation, which has been subject to significant
speculation. Further, the Grand Jury provides recommendations to the General Assembly to take
action with respect to the shortcomings in our State’s ethics laws that resulted in tangible
impediments to this investigation.

The Report released today contains redactions to which the State temporarily consents in
the interest of eliminating any further delay in the public’s right to review it. On September 6,
2018, the State filed a public motion requesting disclosure. A hearing was held to discuss the
merits of the motion on September 26. A second hearing was held a week later on October 3
during which the Court ordered release of the Report but permitted the attorney for Defendant

Rick Quinn, Jr. to propose redactions. Mr. Quinn’s attorney proposed redactions, to which the



State objected, and the Court requested a third hearing to take up the matter of the redactions. To
allow disclosure of the Report without further delay, I made the decision to consent to temporary
redactions. To be clear, the State believes the redactions are not merited, and we will file a
public motion to take up that matter at a later date.

I wish to close with two points. First, this is not “The Pascoe Report” as I have heard
mentioned by attorneys opposing its release in court. This is the Report of the Twenty-Eighth
State Grand Jury. The Report contains their collective opinions, conclusions, and
recommendations. Finally, I would like to wholeheartedly thank every member of the Twenty-
Eighth State Grand Jury for their honorable service to the State of South Carolina. The Grand
Jurors were asked by the State to serve for two full years. They routinely traveled from all
corners of this State and interrupted their personal and professional lives to convene in
Columbia. Each and every member of the Grand Jury embodies the civic traditions that make our
Jjudicial system the envy of the world, and the State of South Carolina owes them a debt of

gratitude.

Respecifully,

(et R

David M. Pascoe
First Circuit Solicitor



FILED

o _ | 0CT 08 2018
IN THE STATE GRAND JURY OF SOUTH CAROLINA
) CLEniAgATE\STE Daris
IN RI:: STATE GRAND JURY ' GRAND JURY

)
INVESTIGATION NO. 2016-257 ) CONSENT ORDER
)

This matter is before the Court upon the motion of the designaled prosccutor in the above
referenced State Grand Jury investigation to unseal the Report of the Twenty-Eighth State Grand
Jury (the “Report™) for public disclosure. The Court has permitied Richard Quinn. Jr. 1o submit
proposed redactions 1o the Report. Those redactions were submitted on Friday. October 5. 2018,
and are listed by refcrence o page and line number in Exhibit A. attached hereto, The State
opposces the proposed redactions. The State Media Company has also intervencd in this matter o
support release of the Report.

The State has consented to unsealing the Report in redacted form. 1o reflect the redactions
suggested by Mr. Quinn, with the understanding that the State will seck removal of these redactions
at a later date. MNr. Quinn and The Stae Media Company indicate that they have no objection to
releasing the report in this manner.

IT IS ORDERED that a copy of the Report of the Twenty-Eighth State Grand Jury shall be
redacted in the manner suggested by Richard Quinn, Jr. The redacted copy of the Report shall be
unscealed and may be disclosed to the general public,

I'T IS FURTHER ORDERED that the State and the intervenor may {ile motions at a later

date secking removal of the redactions suggested by Richard Quinn. Ir.

&,
—#ﬁ %-_u_f"l}z#ﬂ\
Ch ewman

Presiding Judge. State Grand Jury

This _({zm of Ociober, 2018
Columbia, SC



[ SO CONSENT:

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
First Circuit Solicitor

W.BAKER ALLEN
Assistamt Solicitor
First Judicial Circuit

First Circuit Solicitor’s Office
P.0O. Box 1525

Orangeburg, SC 29116

(803) 533-6252



We do not object:

CouﬁdeWdia Co.



EXHIBIT A

Proposéd Redactions Submitted
by Counsel for Richard Quinn, Jr.

Redactions proposed by counsel for Richard Quinn, Jr., by reference to the page and line numbers
of the highlighted portions selected:

1

,lines 17-18
W1

A

4, fn, 2, lines 1-2
24, lines 3-5

24, lines 11-13
32, lines 8-9

32. lines 10-14

p. 44, lines 12-19

p. 45, lines 7-8

p. 47, lines 15-17

p. 48, lines 6-7
Exhibit 31

5
5
6
7
1

p.
p-
p-
p-
p.
p.
P.
p.
p.



CORPORATE INTEGRITY AGREEMENT
PALMETTO HEALTH



SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

David M. Pascoe, Jr., First Circuit Solicitor for the State of South Carolina, acting with the
authority of the Attomey General as ratified by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Pascoe v.
Wilson, 416 S.C. 628, 788 S.E.2d 686 (2016), and Palmetto Health acting on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively “Palmetto Health™) enter into this Settlement Agreement
for the purpose of resolving potential claims and/or charges arising from alleged violations of the
South Carolina Lobbying Act, S.C. Code Ann., §§ 2-17-5, ef seq., the South Carolina Ethics Act
§§ 8-13-10, ef seq., and the Report of 28" State Grand Jury, In Re State Grand Jury Investigation
2016-257 issued June 21, 2018 (hereinafter the “Report”). This is a resolution by Palmetto Health
of a potential but disputed claim and is being entered by Palmetto Health without admitting any
liability or wrongdoing and specifically denying all allegations and claims related to the Report.
Palmetto Health denies it ever acted in any intentional or willful manner in regards to any
allegations in the Report. Palmetto Health is entering into this Settlement Agreement to avoid the
inconvenience and expense of a lengthy litigation,

Additionally, neither First Impressions, Inc, d/b/a Richard Quinn & Associates (hereinafter
“RQA™) nor legislators employed by RQA and/or its affiliates provided notice to Palmetto Health
that said legislators were being compensated by RQA and/or its affiliates and Palmetto Health
denies knowingly violating S.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-110 (G) which prohibits a lobbyist’s principal
or person acting on behalf of a lobbyist’s principal from employing a public official on retainer.
Further, said legislators employed by RQA and/or its affiliates failed to disclose their employment
relationships with RQA and/or its affiliates on their annual Statement of Econornic Interest forms
as required by 8.C. Code Ann. §§ 8-13-110, ef seq., which would have provided notice of the
employment relationships to Palmetto Health.

The terms of this Settlement Agreement are as follows:

18560065



Palmetto Health has agreed to enter into this Settlement Agreement to avoid any claims
alleging violations of the South Carolina Lobbying Act, the South Carolina Ethics Act and any
malters related to the Report. Specifically, the parties agree to the following:

1. Palmetto [ealth neither admits any liability, nor admits any facts or conclusions set
forth in the Report.

2. Palmetto Health will pay $100,000 to the State of South Carolina as directed by
Solicitor Pascoe, which shall be applied first to the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office for
reimbursement for the cost of the investigation and the balance to the South Carolina Ethics
Commission.

3. In consideration of the above, the State releases and forever discharges Palmetto
Health, its current and former officers, directors, employees, affiliates, successors and assigns from
any civil, criminal or administrative claim arising from the matters addressed in the Report of the
28" State Grand Jury.

1 AGREE AND ACCEPT THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT.

Palmetto Health
g 7 450

By: \"‘__ ol S ‘}/!. LI VI "ir ".I'JI‘.I i B AW T T P )&/; -

Date: ,nfn._f AR R

David M. Pascoe, Jr.
First Circuit Solicitor

P16

Date

1856006+ 5



CORPORATE INTEGRITY AGREEMENT

SOUTH CAROLINA ASSOCIATION FOR
JUSTICE



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) CORPORATE INTEGRITY AGREEMENT
COUNTY OF RICHLAND )

THIS CORPORATE INTEGRITY AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as “CIA”) is
made this _1_L7zciay of ég j wsZ . 2018 (the “effective Date™) by and among, David M.
Pascoe, Jr., First Circuit Solicitor for the State of South Carolina, acting with the authority of the
Atiomey General as ratified by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Pascoe v. Wilson, 416 S.C.
628, 788 S.E.2d 686 (2016), (hereinafter referred to as “State™) and the South Carolina Association
for Justice, its current and former officers and employees (hereinafter referred to as “SCAJ™).

WHEREAS, from 2008 through 2016, SCAJ paid a monthly retainer fee to First
Impressions, Inc. d/b/a Richard Quinn & Associates (hereinafter referred to as “RQA™) pursuant
to a written agreement which described the services to be provided as general consulting services
and also included governmental and public affairs consulting services;

WHEREAS, from 2008 through 2016, SCAIJ qualified as a lobbyist’s principal as defined
by S.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-10;

WHEREAS, RQA has entered a corporate plea for engaging in illegal lobbying from 2008
through 2016, which may include activities taken on behalf of SCAJ during 2011 and specifically,
Richard Quinn’s attempts, as an officer of RQA. and Representative Rick Quinn’s attempts, as a
member of the House of Representatives to influence various members of the South Carolina
General Assembly regarding legislation at the request of SCAJ in April of 2011 which may
constitute unlawful lobbying on behalf of SCAJ;

WHEREAS, from 2008 through 2016, Richard Quinn was not registered as a lobbyist with
the South Carolina Ethics Commission and SCAJ did not report Richard Quinn’s purported

lobbying activities to the South Carolina Ethics Commission;



WHEREAS, S.C. Code Ann § 2-17-25 requires that a lobbyist’s principal register and
disclose its lobbying activities, including the identity of any individual lobbying on its behalf, and
the amount of money paid to such individual;

WHEREAS, S.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-130 provides that in the event a lobbyist’s principal
willfully violates Chapter 17 of the Ethics, Government Accountability, and Campaign Reform
Act of 1991 (hereinafter referred to as “Ethics Act”), the principal may be punished by a fine of
up to $2,500.00, imprisonment of not more than one year, or both, and the principal will be barred
from acting as a lobbyist’s principal for a period of three years;

WHEREAS, the State and SCAJ enter into this Corporate Integrity Agreement (CIA) for
the purpose of resolving potential criminal charges arising from violations of the Ethics Act,
specifically, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 2-17-5, ef seq., for failing to disclose the lobbying activities of
First Impressions, Inc. d/b/a Richard Quinn & Associates (RQA) occurring in April of 2011;

WHEREAS, neither RQA nor legislators employed by RQA and/or its affiliates provided
notice to SCAJ that said legislators were being compensated by RQA and/or its affiliates and SCAJ
denies knowingly violating S.C. Cade Ann. § 2-17-110 (G) which prohibits a lobbyist’s principal
or a person acting on behalf of a lobbyist’s principal from employing a public official on retainer.
Further, said legislators employed by RQA and/or its affiliates failed to disclose their employment
with RQA and/or its affiliates on their annual Statement of Economic Interest forms required by
S.C. Code Ann, §§ 8-13-1110, ef seq., which would have provided notice of the employment
relationships to SCAJ; and

WHEREAS, SCAJ denies that it has willfully violated any provision of the Ethics Act and

enters into this CIA to avoid criminal prosecution for allegedly violating the Ethics Act or any



other potential criminal charges that could be asserted against SCAJ by the State arising from

SCAJ’s retention of RQA.

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the

State and SCAJ agree as follows:

SCAJ will amend its registration form with the South Carolina Ethics Commission to
accurately report the identity of all persons who were retained and engaged in lobbying
activities on SCAJ’s behalf during the calendar year 2011,

SCAIJ will appoint a compliance officer who shall be charged with the responsibility of
ensuring that SCAJ accurately reports its lobbying activities to the South Carolina
Ethics Commission as required by law;

SCAJ will require that all officers and directors certify annually that they have read
Chapter 17 of the Ethics Act and that they agree to report to SCAJ’s compliance officer
any state lobbying activities undertaken on behalf of SCAJ by a paid consultant who is
not registered as a lobbyist;

SCAJ will pay $30,000.00 to the State of South Carolina as directed by the State, which
shall be applied first to the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office for reimbursement for the
cost of the investigation and the balance to the South Carolina Ethics Commission.
Provided that SCAJ complies with the terms of this CIA, the State will not prosecute
SCALI for alleged violations of the Ethics Act and SCAJ will not be liable for potential
civil penalties set forth in §.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-50 with regard to any activities which
are disclosed on the amended report that is required to be filed as set forth herein.
This CIA is and shall be a complete bar to any subsequent action or proceeding to set

aside or vacate this instrument because of a mistake in fact or otherwise.

Tt



7. The State and SCAJ declare and represent that:

a. they have read this C1A and acknowledge that they have the advice
of counsel in doing so or the opportunity to consult with counsel;

b. no promise, inducement, or agreement not herein expressed has
been made to them;

c. this instrument contains the entire agreement between the parties
hereto and the terms of the instrument are contractual and not a mere
recital; and

d. if any paragraph or part of this CIA is found void or unenforceable,
the remainder of this CIA shall not be affected.

8. This CIA shall be binding on all successors, officers, directors, partners, agents,
subcontractors, servants, employees, purchasers and assigns of the State and SCAJ.

9. This CIA shall be construed in accord with and governed by the laws of the State of
South Carolina.

10. This CIA is a compromise of potential disputed claims and allegations, and the
settlement terms are not to be construed as an admission of liability or admission of a
violation of the Ethics Act by SCAJ which has expressly denied liability or criminal
responsibility and has entered into this CIA solely to avoid the trouble, exposure and

expense of further litigation.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we hereunto set our hands and seal as of the Effective Date
written above.

WITNE

Vi

bavid -M. Pascoe Ir.
First Circuit Solicitor
Ul




CORPORATE INTEGRITY AGREEMENT
AT & T



SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement™) is entered into by David M. Pascoe,
Solicitor for the First Judicial Circuit of the State of South Carolina, acting as Special
Prosecutor and with the authority of the South Carolina Attorney General as recognized by the
Supreme Court of South Carolina (“the Special Prosecutor™), on the one hand, and AT&T
Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, on behalf of itself and its parents, subsidiaries, and
affiliated entities and their officers, directors, and employees, (“AT&T™), on the other.

WHEREAS, neither Richard Quinn, Sr., any business with which he is or was
associated, nor any public officials who may have been employed by Mr. Quinn or any such
business provided notice to AT&T that said public officials were being compensated by Mr.
Quinn or any such business;

WHEREAS, there exist certain disputes and disagreements between the Special
Prosecutor and AT&T regarding facts and legal conclusions brought before or addressed by
the 28" State Grand Jury, including without limitation those addressed in the Report of 28"
State Grand Jury, In Re State Grand Jury Investigation 2016-257 (issued June 21, 2018); and

WHEREAS, the parties wish to resolve any and all potential existing or future clairns
arising from or related to the matters brought before or addressed by the 28" State Grand Jury
(“Covered Issues”).

NOW THEREFORE, to avoid the mutual delay, uncertainty, inconvenience and
expense of protracted litigation related to the Covered Issues, and in consideration of the
mutual promises herein, the parties agree as follows:

1. This Agreement is neither an admission of liability by AT&T, nor a concession

of any facts or legal conclusions by AT&T, that are not explicitly set forth in this Agreement;



2. For a period of twelve months from the date of this Agreement, prior to
AT&T’s registering ;Hlith the South Carolina Ethics Commission as a Lobbyist’s Principal and
prior to AT&T’s submitting disclosures to the South Carolina Ethics Commission as a
Lobbyist’s Principal, the State President of AT&T South Carolina will confer with the Senior
Vice President ~ Compliance of AT&T Services, Inc. to ensure that AT&T accurately reports
all lobbying activity in South Carolina to the South Carolina Ethics Commission in
compliance with applicable South Carolina law;

3. AT&T will amend the Lobbyist’s Principal Disclosure it filed with the South
Carolina Ethics Commission for the January 1 to May 31, 2016 reporting period (o include
Richard Quinn, Sr. as a person authorized to lobby on its behaif during that period provided,
however, that this amended filing shall not subject AT&T to any fines, any penalties, or any
civil, criminal, or administrative actions other than those explicitly set forth in this
Agreement; 4. AT&T will pay the amount of $60,000 to the State of South Carolina,
as directed by the Special Prosecutor, which amount shall be applied: (a) first to the First
Circuit Solicitor’s Office, in an amount designated by the Special Prosecutor, as
reimbursement toward the cost of the Special Prosecutor’s investigation into the Covered
Issues; and (b) the balance, if any, to the South Carolina Ethics Commission;

5. AT&T will require the President of AT&T South Carolina to report to the
Senior Vice President - Compliance of AT&T Services, Inc. the existence and terms of this
Agreement; and

6. In exchange for and in consideration of the promises set forth in Paragraphs 2-5
above, the Special Prosecutor agrees that neither the Special Prosecutor, the State, nor any

agency or political subdivision thereof, will initiate or pursue any claims of any nature



whatsoever, including without limitation civil, criminal, or administrative claims, arising from

or related to any and all Covered Issues.

We agrec and accept the terms herein.

Nl T w5 [31/15

E. BART DANIEL, on behalf of AT&T Services,
Inc., on behalf of itself and its parents, subsidiaries,
and affiliated entities and their officers, directors,
and employees

By_H_Q_Q( PM—u—Q_ - Date  &/%1118

DAVID M. PASCOL, liirst Circuit Solicitor
acting as Special Prosecutor and with the
authority of the South Carolina Attorney
General as recognized by the Supreme Court
of South Carolina




CORPORATE INTEGRITY AGREEMENT
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA



This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by the State of South Carolina
(“State”), through David M. Pascoe, Solicitor for the First Judicial Circuit of the State of South
Carolina, acting as Special Prosecutor and with the authority of the South Carolina Attorney
General as recognized by the Supreme Court of South Carolina (“the Special Prosecutor"), on
the one hand, and the University of South Carolina (“USC") on the other,

WHEREAS, there exist certain disputes and disagreements between the Special
Prosecutor and USC regarding matters brought before the 28 State Grand Jury and the facts,
allegations, testimony and legal conclusions addressed in the Report of 28" State Grand Jury, In
Re State Grand Jury Investigation 2016-257 (issued June 21, 201 8)(collectively, the “Covered
Issues™);

WHEREAS, the parties wish to resolve any and all potential existing or future claims
arising from or related to the Covered Issues; and,

NOW THEREFORE, to avoid the mutual delay, uncertainty, inconvenience and expense
of protracted litigation related to the Covered Issues, and in consideration of the mutual promises
herein, the parties agree as follows:

L. This Agreement is neither an admission of any civil, administrative or criminal
liebility or wrongdoing by USC, its current or former officers, trustees or employees, nor a
concession of any facts or legal conclusions by USC, its current or former officers, trustees or
employees.

2. USC agrees to appoint or designate a compliance officer who shall be responsible
for ensuring that USC accurately reports its lobbying activities to the S.C. State Ethics

Commission as required by law.



3. USC will amend the Lobbyist’s Principal Disclosures it filed with the S.C. State
Ethics Commission for the years 2012 and 2013 to accurately report the lobbying activities of
Richard Quinn, Sr.; provided, however, that these amended filings shall not subject USC to any
fines, any penalties, or any civil, criminal, or administrative actions or proceedings other than
those explicitly set forth in this Agreement.

4. USC will pay the amount of $90,000.00 1o the State of South Carolina, which
amount shall be applied: (a) first to the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office, in an amount designated
by the Special Prosecutor, as reimbursement toward the cost of the Special Prosecutor’s
investigation into the Covered Issues; and (b) the balance to the S.C. State Ethics Commission.

s. In exchange for and in consideration of the promises set forth in Paragraphs 2-4
above, the Special Prosecutor agrees that neither the Special Prosecutor, the State, nor any
agency or political subdivision thereof, will initiate or pursue any claims or proceedings of any
nature whatsoever against USC, its current or former officers, trustees or employees, including
without limitation any civil, criminal, or administrative claims or proceedings, arising from or
related to any and all Covered Issues.

We agree and accept the terms herein,

Univers South Caroly
e MG e s
J. Cantey Heath, Jr. o

[ts: Secretary, USC Board of Trustees

D i Catoli
: .f:fr Eﬁ"‘ Date  o?fog/2ot®

DAVID M. PASCOE, Fffst Gircuit Solicitor
acting as Special Prosecutor and with the
authority of the South Carolina Attorney
General as recognized by the Supreme Court of
South Carolina




CORPORATE INTEGRITY AGREEMENT
SCANA



SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

David M. Pascoe, Jr., First Circuit Solicitor for the State of South Carolina, acting with the
authority of the Attorney General as ratified by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Pascoe v.
Wilson, 416 S.C. 628, 788 S.E.2d 686 (2016), and SCANA Corporation, acting on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively “SCANA™) enter into this Settlement Agreement for
the purpose of resolving potential claims and/or charges arising from alleged violations of the
South Carolina Lobbying Act, S.C. Code Ann., §§ 2-17-5, ef seq., the South Carolina Ethics Act
§§ 8-13-10, ef seq., and the Report of 28" State Grand Jury, In Re State Grand Jury Investigation
2016-257 issued June 21, 2018 (hereinafter the “Report™). This is a resolution by SCANA of a
potential but disputed claim and is being entered by SCANA without admitting any liability or
wrongdoing and specifically denying all allegations and claims related to the Report. SCANA
denies it ever acted in any intentional or willful manner in regards to any allegations in the Report.
The Report references no covered legislative action existed as to SCANA’s engagement with First
Impressions, Inc. d/b/a Richard Quinn & Associates (hereinafier “RQA”) and SCANA denies any
occurred. SCANA is entering into this Settlement Agreement to avoid the inconvenience and
expense of a lengthy litigation.

Additionally, neither RQA nor legislators employed by RQA and/or its affiliates provided
notice to SCANA that said legislators were being compensated by RQA and/or its affiliates and
SCANA denies knowingly violating S.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-110 (G) which prohibits a lobbyist’s
principal or person acting on behalf of a lobbyist’s principal from employing a public official on
retainer. Further, said legislators employed by RQA and/or its affiliates failed to disclose their
employment relationships with RQA and/or its affiliates on their annual Statement of Economic
Interest forms as required by S.C. Code Ann. §§ 8-13-110, ef seq., which would have provided

notice of the employment relationships to SCANA.



The terms of this Settlement Agreement are as follows:

SCANA has agreed to enter into this Settlement Agreement to avoid any claims alleging
violations of the South Carolina Lobbying Act, the South Carolina Ethics Act and any matters
related to the Report. Specifically, the parties agree to the following:

1. SCANA neither admits any liability, nor admits any facts or conclusions set forth
in the Report.

2. SCANA will pay $72,000 to the State of South Carolina as directed by Solicitor
Pascoe, which shall be applied first to the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office for reimbursement for the
cost of the investigation and the balance to the South Carolina Ethics Commission.

3. In consideration of the above, the State of South Carolina releases and forever
discharges SCANA from any civil, criminal or administrative claim arising from the matters
addressed in the Report of the 28™ State Grand Jury.

THE UNDERSIGNED AGREE TO AND ACCEPT THE TERMS OF THIS
AGREEMENT,

SCANA Corporation
By: %Q_@%
m O. Stuckey
Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Date;

David M. Pascoe, Jr.
First Circuit Solicitor
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IN THE STATE GRAND JURY OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In Re: State Grand Jury
Investigation 2016-257

Report of the Twenty-Eighth State Grand Jury

FILED
JUN 21 2018

JAMES R. PARKS
CLERK, STATE GRAND JURY

To the Honorable Clifton Newman, Chief Administrative Judge:

We, the members of the Twenty-Eighth South Carolina State Grand Jury, having concluded an
investigation of possible political and financial crimes committed by members of the South
Carolina General Assembly, do hereby make the following report to the Court.

The grand jury strongly believes that the interest of the State of South Carolina will be best served
through public disclosure of this report and calls upon the State to release this report at the soonest
possible opportunity.

Twenty-Eighth South Carolina State Grand Jury

June 21, 2018,
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L Introduction

The State Grand Jury is vested with subject matter jurisdiction to investigate crimes
involving public corruption, crimes arising from election laws, and conspiracy to commit the same
by South Carolina Code Annotated Section 14-7-1630. This investigation was initiated on March
18, 2016 upon notification to the Chief Administrative Judge, the Honorable Clifton Newman,
pursuant to the terms of the South Carolina State Grand Jury Act, $.C. Code Ann. §§ 14-7-1600,
et seq., by the Chief of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division Mark Keel and First Circuit

Solicitor David M. Pascoe, Jr., acting with the authority of the Attorney General as ratified by the

South Carolina Supreme Court in Pascoe v. Wilson, 416 S.C. 628, 788 S.E.2d 686 (2016). The
grand jury strongly believes that the public interest will be served by the issuance of the following
report highlighting the findings and conclusions reached throughout this two-year investigation.

&, Origins of the Investigation—Speaker of the House Bobby Harrell

This investigation was initiated on the basis of information gathered in the course of a prior
investigation into the conduct of former Speaker of the House of Representatives Robert “Bobby”
Harrell. The Harrell investigation was prompted by a complaint from the President of the South
Carolina Policy Council, Ashley Landess, alleging her organization, “along with multiple citizens,
organizations and South Carolina journalists—has publicly raised serious, valid and documented
concerns that the Speaker of the House Robert Harrell, Jr. has engaged and may continue to engage
in an ongoing pattern of abuse of power that appears to violate multiple South Carolina ethics
laws.” Exhibit 1, December 5, 2013 SLED Report.

On December 5, 2013, SLED submitted an investigative report regarding the Harrell matter
to the Office of the Attorney General summarizing its findings and analysis of records, documents,

and interviews. On the basis of the SLED report, a State Grand Jury case was initiated in January



2014 to further investigate the conduct of Mr. Harrell, and at this time the jury proceeded under
the guidance of the Attorney General’s Office, Shortly after the case was initiated, on February
24, 2014, counsel for Mr. Harrell moved to have Attorney General Alan Wilson recused from the
case. The recusal motion was based on communications between Attorney General Wilson and a
member of Mr. Harrell’s staff,

On July 24, 2014, Attorney General Wilson wrote a letter to First Circuit Solicitor David
Pascoe requesting that his office serve as the designated prosecutor for the Harrell matter, noting:

Due to various legal challenges, baseless accusations concerning the Attorney

General’s lack of impartiality, as well as political innuendo—which clearly has no

place here—the State Grand Jury investigation has been stopped dead in its tracks.
* %k ¥

Therefore, pursuant to the Attomey General’s authority as chief prosecutor

pursuant to Art. V. § 24 of the State Constitution and in an effort to move this

investigation forward without further disruption, I am requesting that your Office

agree to serve as the designated prosecutor in this matter.

Exhibit 2,

Solicitor Pascoe accepted the designation and proceeded to move forward with the
investigation. Solicitor Pascoe requested the Honorable Casey Manning sign a disclosure order
allowing the State to present the Harrell case to a county grand jury. On September 10, 2014, the
Richland County Grand Jury returned nine true billed indictments against Mr. Harrell alleging
various violations of state ethics laws.! Shortly thereafter, on October 23, 2014, Mr. Harrell
pleaded guilty to six counts of misuse of campaign funds and was sentenced to three years of

probation and monetary fines. Mr. Harrell was then removed from office. Following Mr, Harrell’s

guilty plea, the Attorney General’s Office removed Solicitor Pascoe from further involvement in

! Prior to Mr. Harrell’s indictments submitted by Solicitor Pascoe, no legislator had been indicted
under the statutory and common law misconduct in office offenses for campaign finance
violations. Indeed, Ken Ard was only indicted for one-year ethics violations.

4



the case. On November 25, 2014 a redacted version of the SLED report was publicly released. The
redacted version of the report concealed portions discussing potential ethics violations by other
members of the South Carolina House of Represenlatives.

b. The Redacted Legislators—Rick Quinn and Jimmy Merrill

On October 1, 2014, prior to accepting Mr. Harrell's guilty plea, Solicitor Pascoe wrote an
email to Attorney General Wilson raising his concerns regarding conduct by two legislators
discussed in the SLED report. In addition to addressing potential ethics violations by Mr. Harrell,
the December 5, 2013 SLED investigalive report also discussed conduct by Richard “Rick™
Quinn, Jr. and James “Jimmy” Merriil during their service as House Majority Leaders that
potentially implicated violations of the Ethics, Government Accountability, and Campaign Reform
Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-100, ef seq.

Specifically, the report detailed a SLED interview with Mr. Merrill describing the manner
in which he and Rick Quinn referred Republican House Caucus (the “Caucus™) business to their
respective companies,_while
serving as House Majority Leaders (“HML"). Mr. Merrill described the Caucus as an organization

whose primary goal is to maintain a Republican majority within the South Carolina House of

Representatives. The HML serves as the chief executive of the Caucus|i GG
N O 7 e Cacus el

Republican candidates win campaigns was by producing *“mailers,” or political advertisements
advocating for a particular candidate that were bulk mailed to voters in that candidate’s district.
However, campaign contribution limitations restricted the amount of funds the Caucus could

provide directly to a candidate. Therefore, Mr. Merrill explained, Political Action Committees



(“PACs") were formed as an altemate route to raising money and supporting candidates. One such
Leadership PAC orchestrated by Mr. Harrell was the Palmetto Leadership Counsel (“PLC™).

Mr. Merrill explained that during his tenure as HML, he designed the mailers along with
Jason Zacher, a Caucus employee. Neither the Caucus nor the PLC were equipped with
commercial printing facilities. So once the mailers had been designed they were sent to a
commercial printshop to be prepared for bulk mailing. Mr. Merrill’s practice as HML was to utilize
a company he owned, Geechee Communications, LLC, as an intermediary or middleman between
the Caucus and the printshop, Geechee Communications was not equipped with commercial
printing facilities either, so printing services for the mailers were outsourced, The cost of having
the mailers printed was fronted by Mr. Merrill, as Geechee Communications, and Mr. Merrill
marked up the pricé of printing the mailers and billed the Caucus or to the PLC through his
company. Thus, Mr. Merrill received a profit by directing Caucus and the PLC business to his
company and marking up the cost of paying subcontractors who did the work. Often times, PLC
paid invoices from Geechee Comumunications for candidate specific mailers produced by the
Caucus as if the mailers were attributable to the PLC.

Mr. Merrill served as HML for 4 years, the maximum term at that position, from 2004 to
2008, and succeeded Rick Quinn, who served from 2000 to 2004. During the SLED interview, Mr.
Merrill pointed out that Rick Quinn operated the Caucus mailer program in a similar fashion.
However, rather than simply acting as a middleman and marking up invoices, Mr. Quinn and his
family owned a printshop and a political consulting company. Mr. Merrill believed that Mr. Quinn

sent{ R C2vcus mailing business to his family’s businesses while he served as HML.



e Scope of the investigation

Based on the information provided by Mr. Merrill in his SLED interview, the December 5,
2013 SLED report suggested that the manner in which Mr. Merrill and Mr. Quinn operated the
Caucus while serving as HML potentially violated the Ethics, Government Accountability, and
Campaign Reform Act. Because Mr. Merrill and Rick Quinn were in 2 position to decide how and
where the Caucus spent funds due to their leadership positions as HML, the practice of directing
this business to their personal companies_ potentially constituted the unlawful
use of an official position for financial gain,

In an October 1, 2014 email, Solicitor Pascoe adviscd Attorney General Wilson to consider
further investigation into the redacted legislators in the SLED report. For nearly a year, between
October 2014 to July 2015, the investigation of the redacled legislators was managed within the
Attorney General’s Office by Chief Deputy Attorney General John Mclntosh, and no action was
taken. As explained in an affidavit submitted by SLED Chief Mark Keel, SLED received no
direction with regard to the redacted legislators in the SLED report. On July 17, 2015, Mclntosh
sent a Jetter to SLED Chief Mark Keel instructing him to complete the SLED investigation into
the redacted legislators and forward the results to Solicitor Pascoe for a proseculive decision,
Shortly thereafter, on July 24, 2015, Depuly Attorney General Creighton Waters sent a letter to
Solicitor Pascoe informing him of the Attorney General’s decision to recuse his office from the
redacted legislators investigation and appointing Solicitor Pascoe to the case.

On the basis of information gathered by SLED conceming the redacted legislators
described above, Solicitor Pascoe and Chief Keel signed a State Grand Jury case initiation, The
investigation was initiated due to the need for statewide subpoena power to gather documents and

interview wilnesses, as voluntary compliance with SLED requests for information from parties



involved had discontinued. The scope of the investigation encompassed potential financial and
political corruption crimes perpetrated by former Representative Jimmy Merrill and former
Representative Rick Quinn, as discussed above. The case initiation was signed by Chief
Administrative Judge Clifton Newman on March 18, 2016, and the Clerk of the State Grand Jury
proceeded to administer the oath to Solicitor Pascoe. State Grand Jury Number 27 was already
empaneled and meeting monthly at that time, so that grand jury’s area of inquiry was expanded to
include the redacted legislators. No testimony or subpoenas were issued by that grand jury due to
a dispute with the Attorney General’s Office regarding Solicitor Pascoe’s authority to initiate a
State Grand Jury Investigation. However, on July 27, 2016, once the dispute was resolved, the

investigation was transferred to State Grand Jury Number 28.



IL Summary of Work Completed by the State Grand Jury

State Grand Jury Number 28 was empaneled in June, 2016 to serve for a single year. Due
to the complexity and significance of this investigation, this jury has been extended for two
additional six-month periods and has served a total of two full years con this investigation—the
maximum permitted by statute.

The grand jury has issned 63 document subpoenas throughout the course of this
investigation and information gathered by investigators has resulted in the issnance of three search
warrants, including the search and seizure of records located at the offices of Richard Quinn and
Associates. As a result, the grand jury has received over 975,856 pages of documentary evidence,
which has been meticulously reviewed and analyzed by members of SLED and the First Circuit
Solicitor’s Office. The investigators have presented this evidence through SLED Lieutenant
Jeremy Smith, who has testified before the grand jury regarding the investigation on six separate
occasions,

a. Witnesses called to testify before the State Grand Jury

The grand jury heard testimony from 32 witnesses, listed below.

e Adam Piper

s Bob McAllister

¢ Carol Stuart

s Charles Beaman

s Charles McFadden
+ Ed Walton

s Erich Skelton

¢ Harris Pastides

¢ India Null

s James Merrill

* Jeremy Smith

¢ Jim Harrison

» Joseph "Pete" Strom



s Julian Gibbons

¢ Kenneth Bingham
¢ Kenneth Jackson
s Kevin Hall

s Michael Gunn

¢ Pamela Lackey

s Rebecca Mustian
e Richard Quinn Sr.
¢ Robert Cook

e Thad Viers

¢ Tracy Edge

¢ Trey Walker

s  Wallace Cheves

¢+ Alan Wilson

s Luke Rankin

s  Glen McConnell
s Mark Joye

o Herb Hayen

s Bill Stern

b. Indictments returned by the State Grand Jury
James “Jimmy” Merrill

On December 14, 2016, the Richland County grand jury issued 30 indictments against Jimmy
Merrill.

On September 1, 2017, Mr. Merrill pleaded guilty to statutory misconduct in office.

Richard “Rick” Quinn, Jr.

On May 16, 2017, the grand jury retumed two true billed indictments against Rick Quinn.
Indictment 2017-GS-47-12 for statutory misconduct in office, and Indictment 2017-GS-47-12 for

common law misconduct in office.

On October 18, 2017, the grand jury retumed an additional true billed indictment against Rick
Quinn for criminal conspiracy, Indictment 2017-GS-47-32,
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On December 13, 2017, Rick Quinn resigned from office and entered a guilty plea to statutory
misconduct in office pursuant to a plea agreement. The remaining charges were dismissed. The
plea agreement as interpreted by the trial court is subject to significant disagreement with Solicitor
Pascoe. Following the plea, Solicitor Pascoe’s office appealed the trial court’s conduct during the
plea and asked that the Court of Appeals remove Judge Mullen from the case. As of this writing,
the appeal has not been resolved.

Richard Quinn, Sr.

On October 18, 2017, the grand jury returned two true billed indictments against Richard Quinn,
Sr. Indictment 2017-GS-47-42 for failure to register as a lobbyist, in violation of S.C. Code § 2-
17-20, and Indictment 2017-GS-47-43 for criminal conspiracy.

On December 13, 2017, Mr. Quinn’s business, Richard Quinn and Associates, pleaded guilty to
failure to register as a lobbyist pursuant to a plea agreement. The charges against Mr. Quinn were
dropped in exchange for his testimony before the grand jury.

Johkn Courson

On March 16, 2017, the grand jury retumed three true billed indictments against John Courson.
Indictment 2017-GS-47-08 for statutory misconduct in office, Indictment 2017-GS-47-07 for
common law misconduct in office, and Indictment 2017-GS-47-09 for conversion of campaign,
funds to personal use, in violation of S.C. Code § 8-13-1348.

On October 18, 2017, the grand jury returned two true billed indictments against Mr. Courson.
Indictment 2017-GS-47-33, a superseding indictment for statutory misconduct in office, and
Indictment 2017-GS-4734 for criminal conspiracy.

On June 4, 2018, Mr. Courson resigned from office and pleaded guilty to common law misconduct
in office,

James Harrison
On October 18, 2017, the grand jury returned three true billed indictments against James Harrison.
Indictment 2017-GS-47-35 for statutory misconduct in office, Indictment 2017-GS-47-36 for

common law misconduct in office, and Indictment 2017-GS-47-37 for criminal conspiracy.

As of this writing, those indictments are outstanding,
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Tracy Edge

On October 18, 2017 the grand jury returned four true billed indictments against Tracy Edge.
Indictment 2017-GS-47-38 for perjury, Indictment 2017-GS-47-39 for statutory misconduct in
office, indictment 2017-GS-47-40 for common law misconduct in office, Indictment 2017-GS-47-

41 for criminal conspiracy.

As of this writing, those indictments are outstanding,
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III. Findings and Conclusions

State Grand Jury Number 28 has reached the following conclusions based on its two-year
term of service on this investigation:

1, The grand jury concludes that corporate entities retained Richard Quinn for the purpose of
gaining access to and influence over public officials, and by failing to report Mr. Quinn’s
services, influenced the outcome of legislative matters with no accountability or disclosure
to the public in violation of the State Lobbying Act.

2. Independent expenditures and “dark money” have a significant influence on the outcome
of elections because the General Assembly has failed to address statutory provisions that
were deemed unconstitutional many years ago. These statutes should be revised, as many
other states have already done.

3. Existing laws regulating the ethics of public officials, candidates for office, and lobbying

activities are weak, and the grand jury calls upon the General Assembly to strengthen the
weapons available to prosecutors.

4, The grand jury has concerns regarding the Aftorney General’s relationship to the subjects
of this investigation. The grand jury concludes that Attorney General Wilson’s loyalty
should lie with the citizens of South Carolina, who he represents, rather than with the Quinn
family, and that his actions impeded this investigation.

a, Richard Quinn and Associates—Unlawfully selling influence and access

The grand jury concludes that RQ&A profited from selling political influence and access
to corporate entifies without any accountability or disclosure to the public in violation of the State
Lobbying Act. By developing relationships with many of the state’s most powerful legislators and
statewide officers over the course of a long career in political campaign management, Richard
Quinn offered an insider’s access to legislative matters. He was retained by corporate entities and
special interest groups to help them achieve their legislative goals by providing special access to
key political figures. Although Mr. Quinn claimed that he did not lobby on their behalf, the
evidence presented to the grand jury demonstrates that his conduct blurred the line between
consulting and lobbying, sometimes crossing the line into direct communication with these leaders

of behalf of corporate interests.
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Mr. Quinn was known for his success as a political consultant. For decades, he was highly
sought by aspiring politicians as a campaign managcr and as an advisor. His client list included
the last three Attorneys General, the Govemor, the Mayor of Columbia, the Speaker of the House,
the President Pro Tempore, numerous state Senators and House Representatives, U.S. Senator
Lindsey Graham and Congressman Joe Wilson, and many others. 2 RQ&A also benefited from the
fact that one of the individuals who depended on its success was Representative Rick Quinn. Mr.
Quinn frequently assisted his political clients with messaging, speech writing, and media relations.
Often, those public officials grew dependent on Mr. Quinn’s advice when the need for careful
messaging strategy arosc. This network of grateful, and often times dependent, politicians
iranslated into a marketable product for Mr. Quinn, who invariably understood that corporate and
special interest groups would be willing to retain someone who could reliably communicate with
key legislative leaders in critical moments.

The grand jury reviewed numerous examples of meetings occurring at the offices of RQ&A
between corporate representatives and Mr. Quinn or members of his staff. Frequently, these
meetings would include legislative friends of Mr. Quinn, including his son, Rick Quinn; Kenney
Bingham; Jim Harrison, who was also an employee of RQ&A; Jim Merrill, who was paid a
monthly retainer; or others. While many of the corporate representatives who testified before the
grand jury claimed that the legislators just happened to be in the building, or just stopped in to say
hello, evidence presented to the grand jury demonstrates that their presence was not accidental but

was instead arranged by Mr. Quinn to demonstrate his access and influence to his handlers.

2
mg!w !15 50n |ost his House secat in 2004, Mr. Quinn hired
epresentative Tracy Edge, who served on the House Ways and Means Committee. Another
RQ&A employee, Jim Harrison, served as the Chairman of the House Judiciary Committee. Both

Mr. Edge and Mr. Harrison were terminated by RQ&A when they lost their House seats.
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The grand jury heard testimony explaining that lobbyists are ‘name droppers’ by nature.
Their network of connections is the product that they sell to their lobbyist’s principals. Mr. Quinn
was no different in this regard. For example, when attempting to gain the Universily of South
Carolina as a client, Mr. Quinn wrote:

[ hope you don’t mind, but I took the opportunity over the holidays to check with

some of my legislative friends and clients on the issues that USC will likely face in

the upcoming session.... My statement to you, Lee and [Dr.] Pastides that USC is

still perceived as the place where old Democrats go to retire appears to me to be

stronger than ever. | believe a relationship with our firm would help overcome that

image(.]
Exhibit 3. In another example, Mr. Quinn sought to attract the business of real estate development
firm Burroughs and Chapin by showing off his connections. During a visit to Columbia by the
Chairman of Burroughs and Chapin, Buck Waters, RQ&A staff planned an itinerary to shepherd
Mr. Waters to meetings with the pambit of RQ&A legislative friends and clients, including a
meeting with Senator John Courson at the State House; lunch with Attorney General Alan Wilson;
a private dinner with Representatives Rick Quinn, Kenney Bingham, Bruce Bannister, Jenney
Hormne, and other legislators; breakfast with Columbia Mayor Steve Benjamin; coffee with Dr.
Harris Pastides; and more. A fter the visit, Mr. Quinn drafted a proposal for services for Burroughs
and Chapin that provides,

Secondly (we may as well go ahead and be honest) we also wanted to showcase

what the Attorney General referred to with that unfortunate metaphor: our tentacles.

I prefer to call them relationships based on history, the institutional knowledge and

the qualifications we have as a consulting firm interested in becoming a member of

your strategic team.
Exhibit 4.

While these examples, and those detailed below, demonstrate that Mr. Quinn and his

business effectively monetized these “relationships based on history,” he was quick to proclaim

that he does not lobby. When presented with clear evidence that Mr. Quinn did, in fact, lobby on
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their behalf, corporate representatives testified before the grand jury, “that’s not what they paid
him to do” and pointed to contractual agreements that prohibit lobbying. However, despite these
claims, numerous examples were presented to the grand jury which demonstrate that Mr. Quinn
did promote or oppose through direct communication with public officials the introduction or
enactment of legislation. $.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-10(12) (providing the definition of “lobbying™).
In fact, the lobbyist principals who engaged RQ&A purportedly for marketing and
communications could rarely identify any specific work the firm performed in this area.

A lobbyist is defined by the South Carolina Code as one who is retained to influence public
officials through direct communication. S.C. Code Ann. § 2-17-10(13). Those who engage in
lobbying activities are required to register as a lobbyist with the State Ethics Commission and
submit reports detailing their lobbying activity. Id. §§2-17-20; 2-17-30. Likewise, the lobbyist’s
principal must register and disclose its activities. Id. §§ 2-17-25; 2-17-35. Mr. Quinn has never
registered as a lobbyist, and none of the corporate entities that have been examined in this
investigation have ever disclosed that Mr. Quinn lobbied on their behalf. However, as discussed
below, the grand jury concludes that probable cause exists to find that Mr. Quinn’s corporate
clients’ failure to disclose the lobbying activities of Mr. Quinn amount to criminal violations of
South Carolina law.

The grand jury received evidence that Mr. Quinn’s corporate clients knew that he was
having direct communication with legislators on their behalf. As discussed in more detail below,
USC lobbyist Trey Walker provided the university’s legislative priorities to Mr. Quinn and asked
to assemble Mr. Quinn’s legislative “team” including Rick Quinn, Kenney Bingham, and Jim
Merrill to discuss it; AT&T President Pamela Lackey explained to a colleague that Mr. Quinn

spoke to Representative Merrill and “told him to lose with dignity” and not fight against a bill
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favorable to AT&T; Palmetto Health Government Affairs Director Julian Gibbons explained to
the executives that Mr. Quinn had a conversation with Senator Courson and “persuaded him to
support” a subcommittee vote. These and other examples below highlight the grand jury’s
conclusions with respect to RQ&A and its clients.

Palmetto Health

The grand jury heard testimony from the CEO of Palmetto Health, Charles Beaman, and
the Director of Government Relations, Julian Gibbons. Both witnesses testified that RQ&A was
retained for political access. As with many of the lobbyist’s principals who testified before the
grand jury, the central question put to the witnesses was, what exactly did RQ&A do to eamn its
monthly retainer? In the case of Palmetto Health, RQ&A was retained in 1996 and for more than
20 years was paid $13,200 per month, or $158,000 per year. Yet despite this generous retainer
agreement, the witnesses had a difficult time articulating a tangible work product. When pressed,
however, the witnesses conceded that a large part of RQ&A’s value was Mr. Quinn’s relationships
with key legislative leaders—relationships that a typical contract lobbyist did not possess.

At the outset of testimony by both witnesses, they referenced Mr, Quinn’s role as an advisor
on issues important to Palmetto Health but could only recall a few such issues, Both witnesses
referenced legislation concerning the Certificate of Need (“CQN”) program and its importance to
Palmetto Health. However, when asked what specific advice Mr. Quinn offered on the issue, after
a long pause, Mr. Beaman described Mr. Quinn’s idea to study the impact of eliminating the CON
in other states to gange its effect in South Carolina. However, the notion that Mr. Quinn earned
$158,000 per year by simply advising Palmetto Health to check how other states managed CON

programs is difficult to believe.
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To that erid, the witnesses were asked to elaborate on a series of emails demonstrating Mr.
Quinn’s true value to Palmetto Health in achieving their legislative goals. In the first email, Mr.
Quinn forwarded a draft on Mr. Beaman’s behalf addressed to Senator John Courson—who served
on the Senate Medical Affairs Committee. Exhibit 5. The email asked Mr. Coursen to support
Palmetto Health’s position regarding a subcommittee vote on a CON issue. Mr. Beaman sent the
email drafted by Mr. Quinn to Senator Courson. Exhibit 5-A. Later that day, Mr. Quinn drafted a
second email on behalf of Mr. Courson responding fo Mr. Beaman’s request and indicating that
the Senator had a conversation with Mr. Quinn and would change his vote accordingly. Exhibit 6.
Any question that Palmetto Health was aware that Mr. Quinn was having this discussion with
Senator Courson is answered in a third email from Mr. Gibbons that provides,

I just got off the phone with Richard. As a followup to Chuck’s email, he had an

extensive conversation with Senator Courson. He persuaded him to support the

Senator Cleary Subcommittee recommendation. He intends to vote that way

tomorrow at the Senate Medical Affairs Committee.

Exhibit 7. Thus, while suggesting that Palmetio Health look at what other states did with their
CON programs likely does not require specialized skill, arranging to have a key Senator change
his vote on a CON resolution is something that very few, if any, lobbyist in this State could
duplicate.

Another example demonstrating the value of Mr. Quinn’s access to legislators involves
Palmetto Health’s acquisition of the Tuomey Healthcare System. Palmetto Health required an
expedited determination from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) to establish non-profit
501{c)(3) status for a new entity, Palmetto Health Tuomey. As Mr. Beaman testified, the timing
of the determination by the IRS was critical. Mr. Quinn again earned his retainer, not by providing

sage advice, but by reaching out to his client U.S. Senator Lindsey Graham’s office. Exhibit 8.

Mr. Beaman also indicated that Mr. Quinn facilitated a similar expedited 501(c)(3) review in 2009
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for the acquisition of the Baptist Easley Hospital. As the witness explained, “Richard again, was
very instrumental in paving a pathway, if you will, by setting up meetings for us to meet with
people that could expedite that.” Exhibit 9.

RQ&A’s relationship with the Healthcare Subcommittee of the House Ways and Means
Committee is notable with respect to Palmetto Health. During Rick Quinn’s first tenure as a House
Representative, which ended in 2004, he served as the Chairman of the House Ways and Means
Healthcare Subcommittee. Clearly, this is a position of great significance to Palmetto Health. Once
Rick Quinn lost his House seat in 2004, Tracy Edge tock over his seat as the Chairman of the
Healthcare Subcommittee. Concurrent with Rick Quinn losing his seat, RQ&A hired Tracy
Edge—without any disclosures by either RQ&A or Mr. Edge—and paid Mr. Edge a monthly fee
that terminated as soon as he lost his seat in the House.

These and other similar examples received by the grand jury demonstrate that Palmetto
Health did not retain RQ&A primarily for its marketing and advertising expertise. Instead, RQ&A
was retained to gain access to the relationships with key legislators maintained by Richard Quinn.
In some instances, the evidence presented to the grand jury shows that Mr. Quinn simply arranged
meetings or telephone calls. In other instances, Mr. Quinn engaged in direct communication with
legislators about Palmetto Health’s issues. In the CON example above, Palmetto Health was fully
aware that Mr. Quinn was communicating with Senator Courson in this manner but made no efforts
to correct or report the activity as required by the South Carolina Code of Laws, Exhibit 10,

Based on the above discussion and on other testimony and evidence presented, the grand
jury concludes probable causc exists that Palmetto Health has willfully violated the State’s

Lobbying Act by failing to disclose Mr. Quinn as its lobbyist.
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The South Carolina Association for Justice, a.k.a. the Trial Lawyers Association

The relationship between the South Carolina Association for Justice (“SCAJ™), formerly
known as the South Carolina Trial Lawyers Association, and RQ&A demonstrates RQ&A s value
in running independent expenditure campaigns as well as providing access and influence. Early in
the investigation, the grand jury heard testimony from Michael Gunn, the Chief Directing Officer
of the SCAJ, regarding their relationship with RQ&A. He testified that the Quinns were hired in
2008 to perform marketing services for the group. RQ&A was paid $4,500 per month. When asked
if the Quinns tried to influence legislators on behalf of SCAJF’s interests, Mr. Gunn echoed the
common response among RQ&A’s corporate clients: “T don’t think so and that’s certainly not what
we paid him for.” Exhibit 11,

Because of the lengthy delay caused by defense counsel’s decision to flag any
correspondence involving an individual with a law degree as privileged, the investigation team did
not receive emails relevant to the SCAT until after Solicitor Brackett’s team had entered its final
phase of review. Eventually, the grand jury received emails between managing members of the
SCAI that discuss Richard Quinn’s successful efforts to influence his longtime, powerful friend
Senator Glenn McConnell. The emails detail discussions between the President of the SCAJ, Mark
Joye, and former President of the SCAJ, Pete Strom regarding a tort reform bill working its way
through the Senate, H.3375. These emails also highlight Rick Quinn’s involvement with the
SCAJ. Senator Glenn McConnell had posed amendments to the bill and the SCAJ leadership was
concerned that they would lose Senator McConnell’s support for key aspects of the tort reform
bill. An email from Mark Joye explains,

If word gets out that McConnell turned on us in this bill, it will have a pretty chilling

effect on us giving the amount of money that we have consciously been doing the
last 3 years.... None of us can teli that to McConnell but wondering if that is
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something that Richard [Quinn] can. We (you) hired Richard and Rick for which
they get paid about $100,000 a year.

Exhibit 12,

In an email the same day, Mr. Strom reassured Mr. Joye about Rick Quinn’s allegiances
by telling him, “I am not worried about his loyalty. He is no true believer. This is business.”
Exhibit 13. Later, Mr. Strom noted that Mr, Quinn was successful in convincing Senator
McConnell to support the SCAJ, writing, “[f]lrom the reports I am getting from the meeting this
AM, sounds like Mr. Quinn worked his magic [and] got him back on board!” Exhibit 14, Clearly,
the SCAJ implored Mr. Quinn to lobby Senator McConnell on their behalf regarding the tort
reform bill and Mr. Quinn successfully did so.

Following the discovery of Mr. Quinn’s efforts to sway Senator McConnell’s position in
favor of the trial lawyers, the grand jury heard testimony from Pete Strom, a former president of
the SCAT and participant in the emails regarding the McConnell issue. Mr, Strom’s testimony shed
light on group’s motives for hiring the Quinns, which did not involve their marketing prowess.
Mr. Strom explained that the Quinns were hired as part of a strategy to gain more influence among
Republican legislators. Before, trial lawyers generally had always contributed to Democratic
candidates and were generally disfavored by Republican members of the General Assembly.
Because of Richard Quinn’s success with Lindsey Graham’s career, who began as a trial lawyer
and eventually rose to a Republican member of the U.S. Senate, the trial lawyers sought Mr. Quinn
out as a route to accessing Republican legislators. Mr. Quinn was “the best connected Republican
by a large margin” and could use those relationships to the trial lawyers’ advantage. Mr. Strom
went on to explain the value of Mr. Quinn’s relationships:

So what we needed was not a lobbyist because we’re smart and we understand the
law and we understand where a comma goes and what words mean. We needed
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somebody to kind of introduce us into this community and almost give them
permission to be friends with trial lawyers.

Exhibit 15, Mr. Strom’s theory about how Mr. Quinn built this powerful ability to influence
legislators is consistent with the grand jury’s findings:

[Wlhat I learned that he had done and what we wanted to be involved in, is he

started with the baby candidates. So if I'm a 25-year-old guy and I want to run for

the house, you and I are political consultants, well, if you go to Richard Quinn, he

starts writing all your speeches for you, and if you get in trouble with something

you say, he helps you out of it. He gives you all the talking points, Those people

really sort of become paralyzed to take his advice and that continues to grow as
they stay in the legislature.

Based on the above discussion and on other testimony and evidence presented, the grand
Jury concludes probable cause exists that the South Carolina Association for Justice has willfully
violated the State’s Lobbying Act by failing to disclose Mr. Quinn as its lobbyist.

AT&T

Evidence presented to the grand jury regarding AT&T presents yet another troubling
example of the Quinns’ value to lobbyist’s principals. The grand jury heard testimony from the
South Carolina President of AT&T, Pamela Lackey, who explained that the Quinns met with
AT&T once per year to discuss the political climate and AT&T’s priorities in the General
Assembly for that year. Ms. Lackey added that Mr. Quinn would sometimes call to give some
details about a poll he conducted for a candidate. For this, RQ&A was paid a $4,000 - $5,000
retainer each month, for more than two decades. As with the other corporate clients of RQ&A, this
arrangement raises the question of what service RQ&A actually provided to merit a monthly
retainer.

Common to other corporate clients, Ms, Lackey indicated that when she met with Mr,

Quinn at RQ&A’s offices, Representatives Rick Quinn and Kenny Bingham would often times sit
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in the meetings. Ms. Lackey testified that, “by happenstance,” Rick and Mr. Bingham just
happened to be in the building. However, emails from Mr. Quinn to his son and Mr. Bingham
show that Mr. Quinn coordinated with them to be certain the two legislators were present. As Mr.
Quinn explained in rescheduling one meeting, “I don’t need ya’ll for the entire meeting.... Sorry
to be so vague on time, but I do have an agenda, then I’ll be more specific.” Exhibit 16. Thus,
while Ms, Lackey may not have expected Rick Quinn and Kenney Bingham to attend her
legislative mectings with Mr. Quinn, they were certainly not there by happenstance.

Ms. Lackey testified that during the 2015-2016 session, AT&T was concerned with
enacting a significant bill affecting the telecommunications industry. Specifically, the bill,
designated $.277, addressed whether or not wireless providers would be required to pay into the
Universal Service Fund which supports telecommunications access in rural communities.
Representative Jim Merrill was very much opposed to the bill and had successfully blocked prior
efforts to pass it. An email from Ed McMullen who was also a consultant for AT&T at that
time—to Ms. Lackey indicates that, “Rick [Quinn] just told me Merrill has been working the bill-
--he is a problem. Rick and I are talking at 1 on how to deal with him.” Exhibit 17. Once the bill
reached the House in 2016, Merrill did resist passage of the bill and offered numerous
amendments. However, the bill did pass. In an email exchange between Ms. Lackey and another
AT&T employee, Ms. Lackey indicates that Mr. Merriil was “a formidable opponent” but that
“Quinn’s had a talk with him prior. Told him to lose with dignity, but don’t do any harm.” Exhibit
18.

Jim Merrill was interviewed by SLED following his guilty plea and discussed his
conversations with the Quinns regarding Bill $.277. Mr. Merrill told SLED that during the

legislative session Rick Quinn asked him to call his father. Mr. Quinn asked Mr. Merrill to meet
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him at RQ&A'’s office, which he did once the House adjourned for the day. In that meeting, Mr.

Quinn told him that it had been difficult to explain why someone on the “tcam” had been blocking

the bill. Mr. Quinn asked him to change his vote,_

-So instead, Mr. Quinn asked Mr. Merrill to not attend the vote or not work as hard against
the bill to ensure its passage. Mr. Merrill explained that his ‘working the floor’ against the bill was
very important in affecting the outcome of votes, and that he was confident he would have been
successful had he continued to do so. However, upon Mr. Quinn’s request he did not work the
floor, and the bill was passed. In his interview, Mr, Merrill indicated that Mr. Quinn told him how
important it was to be one big team and to support one another. Significantly, at this time Mr.

Merrill was paid a monthly retainer by RQ&A, purportediy for marketing scrvices.-

Based on the above discussion and on other testimony and evidence presented, the grand
Jury concludes probable cause exists that AT&T willfully violated the Statc Lobbying Act by
failing to disclose Mr. Quinn as its lobbyist.

SCANA Corporation

Testimony and evidence presented to the grand jury regarding SCANA'’s relationship with
RQ&A illustrates the value of the Quinns’ relationships with legislators. RQ&A had been on
retainer with SCANA since the 90’s and received monthly payment of $9,750 until 2008 when it
was cut to $6,000. When asked why the retainer was cut, Charles McFadden, SCANA’s then Vice
President of Government Affairs who oversaw the RQ&A contract, testified, “[wl]ell bottom line,

he wasn’t really doing any work for us.” Mr. McFadden elaborated on RQ&A’s expected role for
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SCANA as general PR work, “special projects,” and that he helped with “relationship issues that
[SCANA] had with a couple legislators.” Exhibit 19. However, Mr. McFadden decided to reduce
RQ&A’s retainer because Mr. Quinn was not keeping SCANA informed of issues relating to
SCANA.

Mr. Quinn did provide a valuable service to SCANA when it came to resolving issues with
legislators. Mr. McFadden described an issue SCANA had in 2003 with Senator Glenn McConnell
relating to the confederate flag. Senator McConnell! is close friend of Richard Quinn and a staunch
supporter of the confederate flag. In the early 2000°s, SCANA had Maurice Bessinger cater a lunch
for one of its departments, which caused a number of employees to complain due to Mr.
Bessinger’s controversial views regarding the use of confederate memorabilia. This ultimately led
to SCANA banning the display of confederate flag stickers on vehicles, hard hats, and other
company equipment. Some SCANA employees who took issue with the ban contacted Senator
McConnell, which resulted in a significant rift between the Senator—who wielded considerable
power at that time—and SCANA. Because of Richard Quinn’s close relationship with Senator
McConnell, SCANA asked him to help resolve the dispute. Mr. McFadden testified that he did not
know what Mr. Quinn did, but that the dispute was resolved.

Another, more recent example involves former Representative Kenney Bingham. During
the construction of the VC Summer nuclear facility in 2013, an engineering company owned by
Mr. Bingham and his brother, entered a bid for work on a $15 million project at the site. Mr.
Bingham’s company was not selected for the worlk, and Chicago Bridge and Iron—the contractor
who managed the selection process—permitted another company to submit a second bid,
undercutting Mr, Bingham’s company. Mr. Bingham was very upset by the scenario and

complained to Mr. McFadden about the slight, threatening to take the issue to the Public Service
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Comrnission. Because of Mr. Quinn’s close relationship with Mr. Bingham, he was involved from
the beginning of the episode. After a number of heated emails, Mr. Bingham ultimately apologizes
to SCANA about the episode, noting that he, “had a very good conversation with Richard Quinn
tonight and I now have a much better understanding of the process you are having to go through.”
Exhibit 20.

In light of the two episodes described above, Mr. McFadden was asked, “[w]as Richard
Quinn and Richard Quinn and Associates able to provide SCANA with access to legislators, to
house members, and senators?” Exhibit 19. Mr, McFadden flatly answered that RQ&A did not.
However, while Mr. McFadden maintained an excellent memory of the McConnell and Bingham
issues, his memory became less clear when he was shown emails in which he requests a meeting
with Mr. Quinn and his “team.” Exhibit 21. By Mr. Quinn’s response setting up the meeting, it is
clear that the “team” consisted of at least himself, and House members Rick Quinn, Jim Harrison,
and Kenny Bingham. Exhibit 22. In a 2015 email to Mr. McFadden’s successor, Mr. Quinn
elaborates on the composition of the team, noting that, “Rick, Jim Merrill and Kenny Bingham are
the 3 McFadden normally met with to chat. On the Democrat side, James Smith and Beth Bemstein
are also friends,” Exhibit 23,

Mr. McFadden indicated that he had a few meetings in the early 2000°s that included
Representative Jim Harrison, but that he could not remember anything about any recent meetings.
Nevertheless, Mr. McFadden echoed a common response by RQ&A'’s corporate clients when
presented with emails that demonstrate Mr. Quinn provided access to legislators: “Well, we didn’t
pay him to do that kind of work. We paid him to do the PR work and things like that.” Exhibit 19.

But the evidence collected by the grand jury shows that, while these corporations may not have
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written out a contract that requires Mr. Quinn to provide access to legislators, that is precisely why
they continued to pay RQ&A a monthly retainer without doing any real PR work.

The grand jury also received testimony from Kenneth Jackson, who succeeded Mr.
McFadden as the Vice President of government affairs in October 2014. Mr. Jackson testified that
RQ&A was hired as a PR firm and insisted that emails between him and Mr. Quinn scheduling
*your annual sit down meeting with Kenney Bingham and others,” were not for the purpose of
discussing legislative matters Exhibit 24. However, the grand jury questioned Mr. Jackson
extensively on the PR work that Mr. Quinn actually did for the company. Mr. Jackson cited
television commercials that RQ&A supposedly produced for SCANA. He explained that the
commercials were produced in conjunction with another communications firm, McMullen Public
Affairs. When pressed, Mr. Jackson conceded that he was not aware of any actual involvement by
RQé&A in the production of the commercials. Mr. Jackson pointed out that RQ&A also conducted
polls and surveys but conceded that during his tenure he did not have RQ&A conduct any polls
for SCANA.

Based on the above discussion and on other testimony and evidence presented, the grand
jury concludes probable cause exists that the SCANA Corporation willfully violated the State
Lobbying Act by failing to disclose Mr. Quinn as its lobbyist.

The University of South Carolina

The University of South Carolina (“USC™) initially retained Richard Quinn and Associates
in 2010 upon the advice of Lee Bussell, the chairman of marketing firm Chernoff Newman, who
was also retained by USC. Dr. Harris Pastides, the President of USC, explained to the grand jury
that Mr. Quinn was hired to assist USC’s new Vice President of Communications, Luanne

Lawrence, in familiarizing herself with South Carolina politics. Ms. Lawrence was from Oregon
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and was thus an outsider to South Carolina. Dr. Pastides described Mr. Quinn’s role as someone
who had “his finger on the pulse of community sentiment, hovs'.' communities, people, business
officials, elected officials thought about the university.” Exhibit 25, In that capacity, his role was
to provide data and feedback to Ms. Lawrence to assist her communications work because, as Dr.
Pastides explained, Mr. Quinn’s forte was providing feedback and advice regarding elected
officials and legislation.

Dr. Pastides testified that it was not his intention to hire Mr, Quinn as a lobbyist or to utilize
Mr. Quinn for access to legislators. However, various emails between Mr. Quinn and Trey Walker,
an employed lobbyist for USC and former RQ&A employee, discuss meetings in which Mr. Quinn
brought together his “political family” or “team” to discuss USC business. Many of these emails,
in which Mr, Walker utilized the Quinns to access and arrange meetings with legislators, are
transmitted from Mr, Walker’s personal email account, which would not be subject to subpoenas
or FOIA requests served upon USC. Indeed, while the grand jury did subpoena relevant emails
from USC, the emails discussed below were not provided by the university because of Mr.
Walker’s selective use of his USC email address. The emails were instead gathered through search
warrants.

As a first example, in 2012 Mr. Walker sent an email to Mr. Quinn and then-Representative
Rick Quinn with USC’s budget priorities for that year. Exhibit 26. The message noted that then-
Senator John Courson would be key to the budget requests and proposed a meeting between the
four—USC lobbyist Trey Walker, Richard Quinn, Representative Rick Quinn, and Senator John
Courson—to discuss the budget request. The message also notes that Mr. Walker, “would like the
home team to continue to get credit for budget on the Senate side.” Id. In his testimony, Mr. Walker

indicated that he sought “credit” with his employer, Dr. Pastides.
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The following year, in 2013, Mr. Walker again sent USC’s budget priorities to both Mr.
Quinn and Representative Rick Quinn, indicating that “it would be good to get the ‘team’ together
like last time to go over them. Maybe we could get Jimmy {Merrill] and Kenney [Bingham] to join
us all for dinner somewhere with Pastides to discuss.” Exhibit 27. In his testimony, Mr. Walker
explained to the grand jury that Jimmy Mexrill was a budget subcommittee chairman on the House
Ways and Means committee and was thus a very important person to influence.

Mr. Walker went on to explain a key point about Mr. Quinn’s value. Mr. Quinn had a
unique ability to influence legislators such as Mr. Merrill and Mr. Bingham because, “folks listen
to him and thought that when he said something that it was -- it was very important, so he was,
you know, he was very important.” Exhibit 28. He explained that a lobbyist should never ask a
legislator to support an issue that will be a problem for the legislator politically. Instead, the
successful lobbyist must communicate that supporting the issue will benefit the legislator
politically. From the perspective of lobbyists seeking to persuade a legislator to support an issue
for their principal, Richard Quinn had the ability to do what other could not because most
legislators, “thought he was the...oracle.” Id. Mr. Quinn’s experience and political prowess gave
his words special weight in the world of legislators, none of whom had been in politics as long as
Mr. Quinn had.

Based on the above discussion and on other testimony and evidence presented, the grand
Jury concludes probable cause exists that the University of South Carolina willfully violated the
State Lobbying Act by failing to disclose Mr. Quinn as its lobbyist.

The InfiLaw System

During the summer of 2013 the Charleston School of Law (“CSOL™), a relatively new

privately-owned law school, entered into an agreement with the InfiLaw System (“InfiLaw”) for
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the purchase of CSOL.. InfiLaw is a private company, and is not registered as a lobbyist’s principal,
that owns for-profit law schools throughout the country. However, the company had a dubious
reputation for running substandard schools and charging students high tuition rates. When the
purchase agreement was announced, the students, faculty, and staff of CSOL were highly opposed
to the sale due to InfiLaw’s reputation. Kevin Hall, a South Carolina attorney hired to assist
InfiLaw with the purchase, testified that part of the negative publicity resulted from the fact that
InfiLaw was an out-of-state company purchasing a Charleston institution. Because InfiLaw had
no local connections or roots, they had difficulty combatting their reputation as an organization
that was entirely profit-motivated.

The negative publicity surrounding the sale of CSOL began to have an effect on the
licensing process for InfiLaw. Before any organization can operate an institution of higher
learning, they must be licensed by the Commission on Higher Education (“CHE”). Failure to
secure a license to operate CSOL meant that InfiLaw would forfeit the $6 million down payment
made for the purchase. However, Mr. Hall testified that InfiLaw was more concerned that failing
to secure a license in Charleston would have a negative effect on their ability to secure a license
in other states as well. If the license to operate CSOL was not approved, InfiLaw would be forced
to explain the failure to any future licensing committees in other states who looked at the company
with suspicion. Thus, while securing a license to operate was important for the purchase, avoiding
a rejected license application was essential.

Due to the negative publicity surrounding the CSOL sale, and the concern that the bad
press might affect the CHE's decision with regard to InfiLaw’s license, Kevin Hall recommended
InfiLaw hire Representative Jim Memill’s firm, Geechee Communications, to help with marketing

and publicity. Despite Mr. Mermrill efforts, on May 19, 2014, the licensing subcommittee of the
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CHE recommended to the full commission that the license be denied. The full commission was set
to take a final vote on the matter on June 5, 2014, InfiLaw was in a difficult position, as the license
would likely be denied. At this point, Mr. Hail suggested InfiLaw retain RQ&A. Mr. Hall
explained his reason for retaining RQ&A was because InfiLaw needed to develop relationships
with key members of the community to attempt to sway the negative perception of the company.
RQ&A had relationships with the University of South Carolina, the Trial Lawyers Association,
AT&T, and other key members of the business community, as well as numerous public officials.
Acceptance by these businesses and officials would help stem the negative sentiment toward
InfiLaw and alleviate pressure on the CHE to reject the license.

Mr. Quinn’s initial idea was to secure an Attorney General’s opinion discussing the
licensure requirements for the CHE. Mr. Hall explained that the CHE was required to consider
specific, statutorily prescribed factors for licensure. InfilLaw was concerned that the negative
publicity surrounding the CSOL purchase would cause the CHE to stray from these objective
criteria. Thus, an opinion from the Attorney General reminding the CHE that they are required to
restrict their decision to the objective criteria in the statute would help prevent the publicity issue
from affecting the decision. Mr. Hall and Mr. Quinn succeeded in having an opinion to that effect
issued by the Attorney General prior to the CHE vote.

As the date of the CHE vote approached, InfiLaw grew more concemed that their license
would be rejected. Mr. Quinn suggested they find a way to withdraw the application and ‘live to
fight another day.” Mr. Hall testified that the CHE had a number of vacancies at that time, and new
members might change the composition to one that would be more receptive to InfilLaw’s
application. So InfiLaw sought a graceful way to withdraw the application until a time that they

could feel more certain about its outcome. This led to the idea of having Senator John Courson—
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who was the Chairman of the Senate Education Committee—send a letter to the CHE
recommending they postpone their vote. The letter was drafied by Richard Quinn for Mr.
Courson’s signature and edited by Mr. Quinn, Mr. Hall, and Ed McMullen. Exhibit 29. Mr. Hall
testified that Mr. Quinn had the letter signed by Senator Courson, and it was sent to the CHE.
Thereafier, InfiLaw withdrew their application.

Having avoided the CHE vote on their application, InfiLaw next needed to ensure that the
new commissioners of the CHE would be favorable to their application. Mr. Hall set up a meeting

with RQ&A to discuss their plan. The meeting was attended by Representatives Jim Merrill[JJj

_and an email from Mr. Hall the following day details their “to-do” list from the

meeting. Exhibit 30.

Based on the above discussion and on other testimony and evidence prescnted, the grand

Jury concludes probable causc cxists that the Infilaw System willfully violated the State Lobbying
Act by willfully failing to register as a lobbyist’s principal and willfully failing to disclose Mr.
Quinn as its lobbyist.
Conclusion
The case presented by RQ&A highlights a problematic overlap between the political
“consultant” and the lobbyist. This overlap was exploited by the corporate clients of RQ&A, who
retained Mr. Quinn for his access to and influence over some of the state’s most powerful figures.

The role of the lobbyist is to advocate the position of corporations and special interest groups to
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legislators with the intention to influence their decisions, The role of the political consultant is to
offer advice to politicians about messages and positions that will benefit an elected official
politically. But as former USC Lobbyist Trey Walker pointed out in his testimony, a successful
lobbyist does not ask a legislator to support a politically damaging position. Instead, the successful
lobbyist persuades a legislator that supporting his position will be a wise political move. Thus, it
is easy to imagine how a professional political consultant with Mr. Quinn’s reputation could easily
fill the role of a lobbyist by taking advantage of his role as an advisor.

The grand jury heard testimony consistently lauding Richard Quinn as a master of
communication and messaging. Mr. Quinn seemed to have his pulse on the community, which was
likely a result of his prolific polling activities. Mr. Quinn’s impressive stable of political clients
often times relied on his communications expertise when they found themselves in political hot-
water, and in many cases, the legislators and officials who began their political journeys under Mr.
Quinn’s guidance grew to depend on his effective writing and strategy. The trust and reliance
engendered by Mr. Quinn’s political advising services gave him the ability to more effectively and
reliably communicate messages that a lobbyist’s principal would retain him to deliver.

While a typical lobbyist may be able to effectively communicate his client’s message in
terms of its political advantage to a legislator, the lobbyist, by his nature, has an agenda. The
legislators he lobbies undoubtedly understand that the lobbyist is representing a principal. In many
instances, the legislator may support the principal’s ideas, and the lobbyist simply educates the
legislator, In other instances, the lobbyist must persuade the legislator. But in either case, the
lobbyist must make efforts to seck out the legislator. Richard Quinn enjoyed a significant
advantage, in that it was the legislators who sought him out for his advice. As many of the

witnesses testified, no lobbyist in the state could ask a legislator to travel to the lobbyist’s office
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for a meeting. However, Richard Quinn routinely arranged to have legislators attend meetings at
RQ&A.

The lobbyist principals who retained Mr. Quinn were undoubtedly aware of his extensive
network of powerful clients and friends. As demonstrated by USC and the Buiroughs and
Chambers examples above, Mr. Quinn subtly advertised his legislative friends when seeking to
become a client, Indeed, some corporate representatives readily testified before the grand jury that
Mr. Quinn was retained specifically for his connections to legislators. But despite hiring Mr. Quinn
because of his many friends in the legislature, the witnesses testifying on behalf of lobbyist
principals expressed disbelief when confronted with evidence that Mr. Quinn reached out to those
friends on their behalf. They consistently claimed, “that’s not what we paid him for,” yet it is
unclear from their testimony what else they were paying Mr. Quinn for, in light of the fact that few
could articulate an actual work product.

The grand jury concludes that the lobbyist principals and special interest groups that
retained Mr. Quinn hired him because of his extensive network of legisiative contacts. They may
not have hired Mr. Quinn specifically as a lobbyist, however his unique ability to connect with
legislators on their behalf as a political advisor at times when a typical lobbyist could not
undoubtedly factored into the decision to keep him on retainer for years without doing any actual
work. By having Mr. Quinn on retainer, Palmetto Health could have Senator John Courson to flip
his vote on CON, AT&T could have Representative Jimmy Merrill “lose with dignity” on the
universal services fund bill, or InfiLaw could have Senator Courson—the chair of the Education
Committee—ask the CHE to delay a vote. To the extent that the various lobbyist principals claimed

that this was not what they hired Mr. Quinn for, it was expected of him. Mr, Quinn was retained
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so that he would be standing ready to assist with a legislative effort that could not be solved by a
typical lobbyist.

The blurred line between Mr. Quinn’s political consulting business and his corporate
consulting business presents a weakness in a body of law that is designed to promote transparency
between elected public officials and the corporate entities that expend funds with the purpose of
influencing the public official’s decisions. A lobbyist is defined by the South Carolina Code as
one who is retained to influence public officials through direct communication. $.C. Code Ann. §
2-17-10 (13). Those who engage in lobbying activities are required to register as a lobbyist with
the State Ethics Commission and submit reports detailing their lobbying activity. [d. §§2-17-20;
2-17-30. Likewise, the lobbyist’s principal must register and disclose its activities. Id. §§ 2-17-25;
2-17-35. In this manner, the State Ethics Commission tracks the activities of lobbyists and
promotes disclosure to the public. The problem presented by Richard Quinn’s activity is that,
absent voluntary reporting of his activities, the State Ethics Commission would have no
mechanism to discover and punish his periodic violations of the lobbying provisions of the South
Carolina Code. Mr. Quinn was not a public official, nor was he registered as a lobbyist, so much
of the Code would not apply to him.

While Mr. Quinn presents a unique case due to his lengthy career, the manner in which he
exploited his role as a political advisor could easily be repeated. In the natural course of their work,
political consultants collect relationships and build trust as experts in advising politicians. Without
any oversight or disclosure, a political consultant is free to engage with corporations and special
interest groups to advise them regarding his conversations with his political clients. Further, the
political consultant is free to communicate political advice to his political clients that may align

with the interests of those corporate clients who pay a monthly retainer, Certainly, a clear line does
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exist between communications that constitute lobbying and those that do not. But it would be
nearly impossible for the State Ethics Commission to enforce compliance with state lobbying
prohibitions where there is no clear distinction between an individual’s activities as a political
consultant versus a corporate consultant. The State Ethics Commission cannot prove the intent
behind a wink and a nod.

The grand jury also concludes that the four-year statute of limitations on criminal
prosecution of violations of the lobbying provisions of the South Carolina Code stand as an
impediment to enforcement of the provisions and should be eliminated. See 5.C. Code Ann. § 2-
17-150. The scheme perpetrated by Richard Quinn was only discovered in the course of
investigating the conduct of Rick Quinn and Jimmy Merrill. This investigation was initiated on
March 18, 2016. However, the SLED report that prompted this investigation was issued in
December 2013, and the Attorney General’s Office did not investigate the conduct of the redacted
legislators during this interim, and only assigned the case to Solicitor Pascoe in July 2015. The
delay that has resulted from this inaction, and from other issues arising in this matter, have placed
tangible impediments to prosecution for impermissible lobbying activities occurring prior to
March, 2012, Notably, this is the sole statute limiting the time within which charges may be
brought under state ethics statutes.

b. Dark money—The problem of independent expenditures

This investigation began by examining the practices of the House Republican Caucus and
the manner in which the Caucus distributed campaign donations to its members. During interviews

regarding Caucus business, investigators leamed the Caucus also engaged in independent
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expenditure® campaigns to further assist candidates with races. In addition, the grand jury heard
testimony about independent expenditures that were conducted by business clients of RQ&A in
furtherance of their legislative agenda.

For example, the South Carolina Association for Justice (“SCAJ") through various PACs
contributed over two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) running attack ads against incumbent
Senator Larry Martin who was the Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee. SCAJ opposed
Senator Martin because he was a strong proponent of tort reform and if he was defeated then
Senator Luke Rankin, a member of SCAJ would then be elevated to Chairman of the Senate
Judiciary Committee. RQ&A created a front entity for the SCAJ money called Better Future for

Our Community.* These attack ads were successful against Senator Martin and he was defeated.

3 An independent expenditure campaign is currently defined by ‘the Ethic, Government
Accountability, and Campaign Reform Act as,

(a) an expenditure made directly or indirectly by a person to advocate the election or defeat
of a clearly identified candidate or ballot measure; and

(b} when taken as a whole and in context, the expenditure made by a person to influence
the outcome of an elective office or ballot measure but which is not:
{i) made to;
{ii} controlled by;
(iii) coordinated with;
(iv) requested by; or
(v) made upon consultation with a candidate or an agent of a candidate; or a
committee or agent of a committee; or a ballot measure committee or an agent of a
ballot measure committee.

S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1300 (17).
4 The address registered for the entity is fictitious, and the Quinns were careful to utilize a bulk
mailing permit that could not be traced back to Representative Rick Quinn. In an email containing

a draft of a mail piece an RQ&A ensures that the permit number is changed, “[s]ince 1186 is Mail
Marketing Strtegies[sic] and will be traced back to Rick.” Exhibit 34.
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However, the citizens within Senator Martin’s district were never informed who financially
supported Better Future for our Community or that its true agenda was to fight tort reform.

Ironically, SCANA, who was also a client of RQ&A, funded a separate independent
expenditure supporting Senator Martin. Even more surprising was that SCANA was fully aware
of Richard Quinn’s efforts to defeat Martin, the candidate that SCANA was supporting. An email
from SCANA executive Keller Kissam to SCANA CEO Kevin Marsh and Kenney Jackson
complains, “Richard Quinn working for Rice to defeat, Martin, so Rankin can fill his committee
head. Gotta love politics!” Exhibit 32, Richard Quinn and RQ&A were in a very real sense “dark
money” personified. Quinn testified that independent expenditures are very common in elections,
and the Larry Martin campaign is consistent with this assertion. Nevertheless, Mr. Kissam clearty
did not have as much of an open mind to the prevalence of these campaigns, calling consultants
like Richard Quin a “pack of thieves.” Exhibit 33.

Although there are South Carolina statutes® requiring the disclose of the true identity of
entities and individuals behind independent expenditure campaigns, these